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ST.PETER'S ANGLICAN CHURCH- MAL R2AY

FOREWORD

If the wording of the sub-title of this article, "more
than a century and a half..", seems vague it is for the good
reason that the origin of the Anglican church of Mal Bay evidently
pre-dated the arrival of the first resident Protestant missionary
in Gaspesia, the Rev. John Suddard. In his first report to the
Society for the Fropogation of the Gospel in Foreign Parts of
October, 1820, Rev. Suddard noted:

"+..South of Gaspé lies Malbay, containing about 60
Protestants; here a private house is being used for
public worship, but building material for a church
is already at hand..."

The early history of settlement at Mal Bay, researched
and written by David and the late Doris McDougall, was published
by SPEC on September 2.1981. This article reveals that English
settlement of Mal Bay was in progress from the 1770's. It seems
logical to conclude that the Mal Bay settlers began to meet in
private homes for worship long before the arrival of the Rev,
Suddard in 1820,

In 1821 Rev. Suddard reported that: ",..At Malbay,
the codfishery season being over, the men are busy covering
the church frame..."

At Church House, Québec City, is preserved the original
RECORD BOOK OF THE MAL BAY MISSION, containing records of baptism,
marriage and burial from 1823,

The first church building of St.Pater's. Mal Bay was
destroyed by fire as was its contemporary church at Gaspé Basin,
St.Paul's, Rebuilding of a new St.Peter's was undertaken a2t once.




CENTENNIAL HISTORY

In 1951 the Rev. Hugh I. Apps, Rector of St.
Peter's, Mal Ray, prepared the following history of the parish
for the period 1851-1951. Rev. Apps chose as the title, "ONE
HUNDRED YEARS BY THE SEA". It is felt by GASPE OF YESTERDAY that
this parish history will be of interest to many Gaspesians who

did not have the opportunity to read it at the time 1t was written
more than thirty years ago.

1851 1951

®ne Bundred Pears by the Sea

Introduction

e

The purpose of this booklet is to create a record of our first
Centenary, and to give in brief a story of some of the events of the
Parish of St. Peter’s, Malbay, Gaspe, Quebec. These events should
be keenly interesting to those readers. who are direct descendents of
the founders of the Church in this part of Canada by the sea. Ancestors
who have come chiefly from the Jersey and Guernsey Islands and
Norway whose names still are repeated in the parish and along the
coasts of Gaspe. Names we hear such as Pye’s from Ireland, Bairds
from Scotland, Bakers, Harbours and Enderbys from England, Knud
Arnesen from Norway, Ole Iversen, Erik Berg and Torje Knudsens,
people from the land of the mid-night sun who once lived here but
tragically were swept into oblivion by plagues of diphtheria. These
people experienced the sad stories of tragedy by the sea when bodies
were washed up after ship-wreck and reverently laid to rest in our :
cemeteries as “‘unknown’ or “‘stranger’”’ or “‘Captain of a vessel wrecked :
off . .. Point”. These are also the greatest majority of settlers from ]
the Channel Islands who still remain as descendants of what are known
as “Jersey Islanders”. Thus we see it is a parish made up of all manner
and races of men sharing one another’s burdens in various ways and
with a hospitality and sympathy second to none elsewhere in the world.

This booklet will provide glimpses into the past and we will be able
to see how they faced their problems in those early days. Our memories
will be reireshed and we will appreciate how truly and firmly laid were
the foundations of the Church in which we worship, and whose worship
we are able to continue to carry on as in time past.

The proceeds realized from the sale of these booklets will be used

e a thankoffering to God for the blessings which St. Peter’s has enjoyed
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The Mission of St. Peter’s, Bhalbay, seems definitely to have been
established by the year 1851. Before this time Chureh ministrations
were sporadic. The care of this part of the coast seems to have altern-
ated between the clergy of Gaspe and Percé. Seraps of information
from Diocesan Archives tell this story:

1823 —Malbay visited by Rev. J. Suddard (Gaspe, Sept. 20, 1819)
“Rapid progress is making in the Churches of Balbay and
Gaspe.”’

1828—Visiting Missionary (C. Archibald) menrtioned school and
Church in Malbay Cove (P. 157 S.P.G. Report).

1837--Bishop of Quebec’s special wvisit mentioned “unpainted
Church at Malbaie” and again in 1840.

1343—Bishop visited “Malbay Church in Malbey village recently
enlarged.”

1850—Bishop again visited Malbay.
1853—First St. Peter’s Church, Malbay, burned.

1856—During Bishop's seventh Episcopal visit, the Church
(second) was consecrated August 17th, 1356.

These meager records show the Church to have been here before

1851, but the first evidence of its being an independent congregation
is shown by the parish book of civil records dated this year. Activity
between 1840 and 1851 brought about the congregation’s independence.

Land was procured by deed 1n 1841. Although the 1853 fire destroyed
the first Church and its records (according to local tradition) nothing
apart from vital statistics predates 1854, to prove or disprove the
Church’s separate unity from Gaspe or Perce or the services of
Missionary clergy. The civil records may have been saved by the fact
that the travelling missionary kept them in his own possession rather
than leaving them in the Church building.

From the year 1854 we are able to make use of the vestry minutes
as well as the records of vital statistics. The first vestry meeting is
recorded as follows: “At a meeting of the inhabitants of the Township
of Malbay, held on the 10th day of January 1854 for the purpose of
devising means for procuring Boards and other materials for the Malbay
Church ...” This was the purpose of the meeting — to build a Church
to replace the one burnt by fire the year previously. Mr. James
Alexander Hunt and Mr. Peter Mabe made the following proposal,
“that the inhabitants of Malbay receive credit for boards, labour and
other materials which they may furnish; the same to be on account
when they become purchasers of pews.”  Cash money was little used
at this time. The following members were present at this first recorded
vestry meeting: Messrs. John Vardon, Philip Touzel, Peter Mabe,
Peter Vibert, also Hunts, Ross’s, Hayden, Collas, LePage’s and Syvret's.
Most of these family names still exist in the parish being direct des-
cendents of these pioneers and charter members of St. Peter’s vestry.
The Rev. Mr. de LaMarre presided at the meeting. An order was sent
to Gaspe for Church window sashes at a price of “One pound per sash.”

By April 1854 the work on the Church must have progressed quite
well, because the chief item of business was “proposed by Mr. Philip
Touzel seconded by John Vardon, carried unanimously that, ‘seats will
be open and a plan furnished by Rev. Mr. de LaMarre for acceptance’.”

An interesting manner of insulating buildings of that date also comes
to light at one of the vestrr maatines ne tha follasmme e 1
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_ No further vestry meetings were recorded that we know of until
1859. Hence, we retrace our steps by means of the vital statistics
records which date from 1851. The notarial seal and preamble to this
record states that the register was to be used ‘‘for enregistering all acts
of Baptisms, Marriages, etc. — in the Protestant Episcopal Congrega-
tion at Malbay and parts adjacent, etc.’” An additional note by the
hand o‘f the Rev. Frederick A. Smith, first missionary, in 1853 reads
thus, “All baptisms, marriages and burials performed by me in my
Mission (comprising the settlements of Peninsula, Sandy Beach,

Haldimand Town, Douglastown, Malbay, Poi
R ; ay, Point St. Peter, and Corner

No parsonage existed at Malbay before 1860. The Missionary
who served this parish along with others must have lived elsewhere.
[t may also explain the preservation of the Chureh Vital Statisties
from the fire of 1853 in which all previous records are believed to have

been lost.

It is noteworthy that the first enfry in the Church record of
Baptisms was an intant, Jane Maria [ngrouville, daughter of Henry
Ingrouville and Angelic Tapp who was privately baptized, “being ina
precarious state of health.”” The same might have been said metaphor-
ically speaking, of the new Mission of Malbay. It was an infant
congregation made up of small scattered groups of poor fisher-folk and
mariners living by the sea. But as that same infant lived to a ripe
old age, so also has the parish flourished and grown strong from those
rude and feeble beginnings to celebrate its first hundred years by the sea.

The Rev. Frederick Smith, a S.P.G. Missionary, ministered to this
flock until 1856 being relieved by the Rev. B. S. de LaMarre and
succeeded by the Rev. Wm. Arnold. In Mr. Smith’s records of Bap-
tisms we see such names as Wm. Acsah, Mariner, Philips, McRaes and
Pattersons of Peninsula, Garrets of Halidmand, Mullins, Cummings
and Bakers of Sandy Beach, etc. All this testifies to the long arduous
journeys of those Missionary clergy over roads little better than foot
paths and in boats threading their laborious way through treacherous
reefs and shoals. After the Rev. Frederick Smith, Malbay Mission
was to have its first resident and permanent clergyman, following four
years of supply clergy including Reverends Milne (Rural Dean of Gaspe

1858), Kerr and de LaMarre.

When the Rev. Joseph DeMoulpied arrived in the Mission there
was no parsonage. He lived at Point St. Peter in a rented house.
Point St. Peter being at this time a settlement of no mean proportions.
It was the center of local industry, chief of which was fishing, with
subsidiary industries of ship-building and the making of barrels for the
shipment of cured fish to South American.ports every year, and
oceasionally to European and British ports as well. This, then, was
the logical place for the clergyman to dwell, and here were living the

most influential members of his congregation.

At the first vestry meeting held by the Rev. Joseph DeMoulpied
on December 6, 1859, “It was unanimously agreed that the sum of
45 pound sterling should be made up by the congregation to the
Minister, as also 40 cords of wood sawed and split, to be found at his
residence at Point St. Peter, in consideration of which the minister is
to pay his rent; the said firewood to be measured by Messrs. E. Collas
and 1. LeGresley.” Thus we see the first resident clergyman established

in the parish of St. Peter’s, Malbay.

e am el inm that tha
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~ With a clergyman fully resident in the parish, church activities
quickened. Many more baptisms per year are recorded as well as
marriages — some of these latter appearing to be more from expediency

than volition. However, that is another matter. Many who had been
privately baptized were now received publicly into the Church. On one
occasion no less than four at one service were thus admitted. Vestry
meetings were more frequent, on one year there being as many as five
meetings. This year saw the first delegate to Syncd elected in the
person of Mr. Thomas Lenfesty of Quebec. The first mention of
Church Wardens occurs when Mr. Edward Packwood and Mr. John
LeGresley were re-elected, the latter to be Minister's Warden. The
Church was painted outsidé and the spire was completed in the same
year. The work was let out by contract to the lowest tender.

The year 1860 is the first year in which drawings of the interior
of the Church were made showing the arrangement of the pews and
something about the interior of the Church. The names of the pew-
holders are written in where each pew is drafted. From this design
of the Church we are able to draw the following deductions: There were
seventeen paid pews and five free pews — eleven on either side of the
aisle. The front pew on the north side of the nave was reserved for the
clergy families. The corresponding pew on the south side was reserved
for the “Singers”’. A Church warden'’s seat stood on the Gospel side
of the Chancel opposite a prayer desk which faced east and was in line

with the pulpit. The altar was flanked both sides with a vestry.

The ““‘Singers” pew in the nave was a temporary arrangement ‘“to be
reserved until the gallery is sufficiently completed.”” Rented pews were
considered free if unoccupied by the third reading of the first lesson.
The pew rent was calculated in sterling currency ranging from 10
shillings to 20 shillings per year, and leased for one year at a time only.
Thus we find the Church building completely organized and usable
for worship by the year 1860.

A vestry meeting to consider the building of a parsonage was held
on September 24, 1860. However, it was doomed to disappointment
owing to insufficient members present to form a quorum to decide such
an important matter. Another meeting was called two days later at
the school house in the evening in the hope of attracting a larger
gathering. It too was doomed to failure as far as parsonage was
concerned. However, other matters were decided such as further work
on the Church steeple, the lower part of which was to serve as a winter
porch for the Church.

A third and successful meeting was called for December 31st of
that year (1860) New Year’'s Eve day in which the following motion
was passed: “that it is expedient that a house be built for a resident
clergyman, and that the committee (elected) be requested to enquire
as to the most eligible place.” A week later this committee was able
to report gifts of land adjacent to each other from Mrs. Charles Vardon,
Mr. John Hotton, Sr., Mrs. Sarah Girard and Mr. Philip Touzel, in
consideration of which gifts the donors were to be exempt from being
called upon for the building of the parsonage. These gifts were grate-
fully accepted. Furthermore, the Rev. J. DeMoulpied himself gave
twelve pounds, ten shillings for the completion of the parsonage (a
building 28 ft. x 36 ft.) provided that it be ready for occupancy by the
fall of 1862. A liberal allowanee of time, but, as we shzall see later,
none too much.




but none of the interior work is done, and our resources are exhausted.”
Later that year the minister met with success in collecting some funds,
a grant was received from Church Society, and in December 1862,
Mr. DeMoulpied and family moved into a parsonage habitable but
incomplete. This being so, and his stipend being deficient, he was
unable to give any sum beyond his time and services towards It.
Undoubtedly, this was a period of great trial and struggle for the
Mission but by 1863 and 1864 less is heard about the buildings,
indicating thereby, the solution of these problems. Finally in 1870.
eight vears later, a motion was passed, authorizing the repayment to
Mr. DeMoulpied the sum of 8 pounds, ten shillings, and tenpence for
advances he made on the parsonage and giebe — 6 pounds to be paid
immediately, and “the remainder out of the first money they (the
wardens) touch.” This urgency is readily explained two weeks later
by a letter from the Bishop announcing the arrival of the new priest
in charge, the Rev. Richard Mathers.

A general house cleaning and refurnishing in the parsonage was
brought about before the arrival of the Rev. Richard Mathers. From
the work done we learn that this first parsonage contained three
bedrooms and a hall upstairs, and kitchen, diningroom, sitting room,
study and hall downstairs. Each room swas renovated by a different
family. Today nothing remains of this parsonage except a slight
depression in the ground behind the present parish hall, this depression
being what once was a root cellar. Tater was supplied by a small
spring near the cemetery. This still contains water and overflows
after heavy rains.

The Rev. Richard Mathers' ministry was no longer hampered by
the necessity of getting a dwelling place. He was able to consolidate
the work of his predecassors. It is 1n his incumbency we see the making
of deeds and establishing dates of possession of Church properties.

Some amusing sidelights are seen about what were at that time
problems, but which no longer worry incumbents of this Mission.
On Easter Monday, May 10, 1871, we quote from the minutes: “The
next (business) was the reading of a deea of Ratification from Hannah
& Samuel Lucas in 1839 for half an acre of land as part of a burying
ground; a deed of gift from William Maloney and Elizabeth Buckley
of half an acre of land for the same purpose, an agreement for boundary
lines of the latter in 1841, and Deed of Conveyance, Church yard and
burying ground in 1856. Furthermore that in consideration of Hannah
& Samuel Lucas Deed above referred to, Mrs. . . . loses all rights to a
free pew in the Church granted to her under her false representations,’”’
by the Lord-Bishop who presided at this meeting in 1856.” Itis around
this time we see entries urging the compulsion of paying pew rents,
on pain of forfeiture of the pew. One wonders how compulsion was
effected. But one can also see that the Mission was growing stronger
year by year and was asserting itself in the lives of its members.

It would seem that at times the Mission assumed almost episcopal
powers for itself as the following extract from the vestry minutes will
testify: “Proposed and seconded — that from the First of J uly next
(1872-3) for two successive years that the Peninsula Mission be joined
with this Mission for two years. Services held each alternate Sunday;
our assessment to Diocesan Roard to be made up half bv Peninsula,
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the Mission of St. Peter saved by this F.al financially was to be put
towards an endowment fund. It looks iike 2 shrewd bit of financing.

Artificial lighting in the Church wasfirst used in 1872, undoubtedly
as an accommodation to a change in-schedule of services after the
junction of Peninsula with this Mission. Evening services were first
held in the dim religious light of six wnal-oil lamps.

Building activity of a lesser soit continued. A barn was built,
parsonage cellar deepened and lined. The Church clap-boards were
taken “off the east end, planed anuiput on the other side, the rest to be
made up of new lumber (we presume).” The cemetery was fenced in
with posts “to be of var (fir) and t.0 be charred —"' This charring must
have been some method of weather proofing. Lots in the cemetery
were to be “‘penneled” with four posts each.

In 1873 a sum of money was raised for an endowment fund.
The sexton was no longer expected to give his services f ree, but was
paid $4.00 per year. The job still was mostly a labour of love.
The Mission’s assessment to Quebec was increased to $225.00 per year.
General growth is evident in- all phases of parish life. The Rev. R.
Mather’s ministry was one of the shorter ones in measurement of years
but it appears to have been fruitful and vigorous, thanks to the labours
and firm foundations built by his predecessors in office.

The Rev. Thomas Blaylock succeeded Mr. Mathers in 1874. By
this time the original Church showed signs of structural weakness.
The gallery had to be removed as unsafe, and iron supports had to be
inserted to reinforce the Church building. This was not all that was
done though. The Church itself was enlarged by an apse-like sanctuary.

The lita.ble and barn were completed. The parsonage had an enlarged
porch.

It was during Mr. Blaylock’s incumbency that wardens were first
appointed for Barachois and Corner of the Beach. Although Mr.
Blayl?lck’s incumbency was of short duration, it was one of gradual
growth.

The year 1878 marks the beginning of an incumbency of the
longest duration of any of the clergy to date in this parish — that of
the Rev. George Radley Walters, who later became a Canon and the
Rural Dean of Gaspe. He in turn was succeeded immediately by
his son, the Rev. Sidney Radley Walters, at present incumbent of
St. Peter’s, Limoilou, Quebec. But more of that later as we now record
some of the labours of the Rev. George Radley Walters.

One of the first innovations of the Rev. George Walters’ incum-
bency was the starting of a regular schedule of monthly services at
Corner of the Beach and Barachois. These were held sometimes in
private homes and at other times in the school houses. Travel was
by relays of horses and transferring to ferry at Barachois village.
The road leading to this ferry still remains.

Tea parties and dramatic entertainments were started as a means
of raising funds for Church work. By 1882 this method was regularly
used. Pans‘h canvasses were also made to solicit the pledged support
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was increased to $8.50 a year and later further increased to $11.00.
These amounts compared with today’s standards seem very small, but
the following extract from the vestry minutes will illustrate the value
of a dollar in those days: Apni' 6, 1883, “It was proposed by Mr. Sam
Lucas seconded by Mr. Thomas LePage that the Church barn, being
in a bad state of repair, have n2w doors made, re—clapboard the walls,
limewash the building, and tar *he roof, this work to be soid to the
lowest bidder. Mr. John Luecas offering to do the work for $13.00,
it was given to him.”’ Grave digging tools were bought by the wardens
and a rental of $1.00 was chargad for their use at each funeral.
So much for various matters of financze.

During the Rev. George Walters incumbency great numbers were
confirmed. In the year 1884, the first we have record of. there were
58 men and 30 women confirmed in August by Bishop Williams I.
Several of these people are still in the parish and regularly attend
services of Holy Communion.

By the year 1889 the parish had flourished to such an extent that
plans were under way for a new St. Peter’'s Church at Malbay, and
wonderful to relate, also for a new Church at Corner of the Beach and
at Barachois West — St. Luke’s and St. Paul’'s. However, we must
confine our story chiefly to St. Peter’s, Malbay.

The Building Committee for St. Peter’s new church comprised of
Messrs. Wm. F. Bower, Geo. P. Fauvel, Chas. LeMarquand, James
DeVouges, James Lucas, son of Thomas, Wm. Samuel Lucas and
George Lucas, son of Thomas. The work on the new Church was
completed by Mr. Thomas John Touzel by June 20th, 1892, for the
sum of $455.00 for his labour. It was first used publicly on St. Peter’s
day, June 29, 1892, when the pews were sold, and the first service was
held July 3rd following, and it was consecrated by the Right Rev.
Andrew Hunter Dunn, July 20th, 1893, a little over a year later.
In passing it is noteworthy to mention that St. Paul’s, Barachois West
had its first service June 23rd, 1895, and was consecrated July 21st.
St. Luke'’s, Corner of the Beach, had its first public service June 26,
1892, and was consecrated July 21, 1893. St. Peter’s parish hall,
Malbay, was completed December 1895. Even as this work was
nearing completion, plans were already in the offing for a new parsonage.
This last building was completed in 1904, replacing the first parsonage
which had not been in use for a good number of years, and had been
previously dismantled and its salvageable material used along ‘with that
of the old Church in building a parish hall. As must be admitted, this
was a prodigious building programme to complete with a congregation
comprised chiefly of fisherfolk who had to gain their livelihood from the
sea, a livelihood which at best brought meager livings.

During this period a letter written to Archdeacon Roe of Lennox-
ville asked that assessments to the Diocesan Board would not be
increased because (the letter dated December 13, 1893 stated) “We
have lost paying members by death; many of our young men and
women are leaving to go to Ontario; the Mission is the poorest on the
coast; people live great distances from the Church; our Minister 1s
always at us to do more; and now he (the Minister) talks of building
a new parsonage and Church hall.” This warden failed to see how all
this was to be done, but as events later proved, the Minister’s vision
and faith in his neople was well founded and all the projects completed
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the challenge which is still to be seen on the present cellar-way of the
parsonage, ‘I, George Radley Walters, built this house, and am not
ashamed of it; let another clergyman come and build a better one with
the same few poor people as [ have had to deal with. Thanks be to God
Who has shown us such wondrous loving kindness."'

Whereas some might think that material things were very much
to the fore at this time, such surely was not the case. Confirmation
classes were large. Through having churches elsewhere in the Mission,
services were increased. The congregation of the defunct Methodist
church in Barachois West was gradually absorbed and their Church
building became a parish hall. A Church Ladies Guild was started
and if not formed before 1902 was very active at that date. [t was
called “‘a sewing guild”. Later on a fourth Church in the Mission
was started, St. John's, Brilliant Cove. This was much slower in
building, but it became a separate congregation in the Mission by 1928.
The turn of the century seems to have marked the hey-day of this
Mission of St. Peter’s, Malbay. The families were largest at that time,
the population was at its height, and the Church seems to have formed
the center of all activity. The incumbency of the Rev. George Walters
ended around 1914 when he was succeeded by his son, the Rev. Sydney
Radley-Walters. The Rev. Canon Walters died on November 19th,
1916 and was buried in the Church yard of the parish in which he had
given 38 years of vigorius and faithful service.

The Rev. Sidney Walters remained as incumbent until 1928 when
he took charge of a parish at Shigiwake. This change ended an in-
cumbency, which included with that of his father, lasted for 50 years,
half the life of the Mission.

Since the Walters’ regime the parish has continued to flourish.

spectacular events have taken place, but each succeeding priest
seems to have contributed something specially of his own, or has
reinvigorated the parish in different ways.

The Rev. Wm. C. Dunn arrived in 1928. His incumbency saw
St. John’s Church, Brilliant Cove, begin its first years as an independent
congregation. The administration of parish affairs was more and more
given to committees which are still in existence today and are doing
valuable work, thus taking some of the burden off the clergyman’s
shoulders thereby enabling him to put more emphasis on his duties as a
priest and pastor. The Rev. Dunn also had a pedestal cross, marking
the site of the first St. Peter’s Church, placed in the cemetery.

The Rev. John Comfort, 1934, was instrumental in starting Youth

work in the parish, and ably assisted by his wife, started Girls’ Festivals,
an activity which has since grown far beyond the confines of this parish.
1936, The Rev. Wm. T. Gray started Community parties, particularly
at Christmas. His ministry according to local tradition emphasized
evangelism.

The Rev. Macklem Brett, 1939, had extensive repairs done on the
Church which included a cement foundation. Girl Guides were in-
stituted during his ministry here and a new club-room was built in the
parsonage to accommodate such groups. This was much more con-
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at a place called Birch Hill.  His ministry saw great work done by the
Youth organizations in sending parcels and gifts to soldiers overseas
and in other work made necessary by a country at war.

The Rev. H. 1. Apps, 1945, came at the close of World War IL.
The emphasis on his ministry may be said to be placed on Social Welfare
and education. The Church sponsored and established a Hospitaliza-
tion Group Insurance for all its members who wished to join. Sunday
School by Post was organized. Youth groups are continued. The
Church also made possible, by its leadership in collaboration with the
Chureh of Rome and the Provincial Government, Rural electricity.
This has modernized the whole parish and makes it possible to have
visual education, along with other amenities of life not possible for rural
congregations before. This being so, there is a great deal less dispanty
between what the towns and cities offer for living conditions and what
can be found in our little parishes by the sea

Some things have to be borne in mind by the reader of this short
history. Our sources of information are very limited — chiefly the
annual vestry meetings. Many great services of the clergy in this
parish long ago, and recently too, were of such a nature as not to be
entered in books, but undoubtedly were of much more worth than what
meets the eye. Much of the work of the founders which made history
at the beginning has been faithfully carried on and taken for granted
since, so was not mentioned further. Some of the ministries were of
short duration so a spectacular and history making programme could
not be carried out, or once started, was completed by another’s labours.
During the 1930’s we had a great depression in which this parish suffered
severely, financially and otherwise. The clergy who held the fort in
those years while not showing signs of great progress, at least gave
moral and spiritual strength and leadership capable of facing terrible
odds of despair and discouragement. Such leadership equals in quality
and devotion that of material growth and strength of numbers. Thus
we conclude that this little history, although far from being as complete
and exhaustive as we would like, is not written for a comparison of the
work of various generations whom it describes, but is solely to bring
to mind with gratitude the factors which have made it possible for this
congregation to survive so long, and by realizing that those who have
gone before had great tenacity of purpose, so we, too, can take fresh
courage as we enter the second century of the life of this parish with
equal determination, hope and faith, for the weifare of the Church
and to the Glory of God.

“Other men laboured: and we have entered into their labours.”’
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IS51

1951

St. Veter's Chureh, Malbay

MHemorials and Biits

Gift
Altar Cross - - - - =
AlmsBasin - - - - =
Allar Bogk = <= = ==
T o R R
CIpmiE e e S
Marble Wall Plaque - -
Brass Wall Plaque - - -
Bronze Wall Plaque - -
Hymn Board - - - -
Church Lights - - - -

In memory of

Emily Walters 1904

Harry LeGros 1900

Thelma Dickson de la Haye 1920

James Collas 1907

Susan Harriett Girard 1949

Clarence Hardley Collas 1831

Rev. Canon George Radley-Walters 1914
Philip Bertram Fauvel 1914

Francis & Isabella LeGresley 1920

Vera & Emmett Leggo, John & Margaret LePage,
Frederick LeGros, Edward Philip Hotton, Victoria
Elizabeth Hotton, Mary Touzel, Mr. & Mrs. James
LePage, Carl Hartley LePage, Mrs. Amos Vibert,
Mrs. William Syvret, Franeis Girard, Mrs. Wm.
Hotton, Alva Lucas, David Cole, Jackson Vardon,
Private David Syvret, Private Herbert Syvret.

Chureh THardens

Minister's
1854-58 John Vardon
1839-60 Edward Packwood
1861-66 John Hotton
1867-68 Francis DeVouge
1869 Wm. Hunt
1870-72 John LeGreslev
1873-74 Wm. Hunt
1875-76 G. P. Fauvel
1877 Wm. LeB. Fauvel
1878-79 John LeGros
1880- W. P. Fauvel
1881 A. E. Collas
1882-90 Chas. LeMarquand
1891 A. Collas
1892-98 John J. LeGros
1899 A. Collas
1900-02 Chas. Hamon
1902-05 Bert LeMarquand
1906-10 Charles Duncan
1911-29 James LeMarquand
1930-31 Percy Hotton
1932-35 Leslie LeGros
1936-38 Thomas J. Ellis
1939- John A. LeGros

People’s
1854-59 James Alexander Hunt
1860 John LeGresiey
1861-62 Captain LeMarquand
1863-67 Thomas Vardon
1868 Philip Vardon
1869 Thomas Vardon
1870-74 John LeGros
1875-76 John LeGresley
1877 Dan Buckley
1878-79 John Vardon
1880-82 Philip Girard
1883 Charles Hotton
1884 Arthur Collas
1885 Geo. P. Fauvel
1886-89 W. F. Bower
1890-91 G. P. Fauvel
1892-95 Charles LeMarquand
1896-1900 Charles Duncan
1902-21 Charles Hamon
1922-28 Charles Duncan
1930-31 John A. LeGros
1932-33 Thomas J. Ellis
1934-36 Charles Duncan
1937- Watson Vardon
193848 Frank LePage
1949- Kenneth Hotton
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ishops

DATES OF OFFICE

Jacob Mountain......o . July 7, 1793-1825
Charles James Stewart............. January 21, 1826-1837
George Jehosaphat Mountain..... ... February 14, 1837-1863
James William Williams........ . _June 21, 1863-1892
Andrew Hunter Dunn.... ... .. ..September 18, 1892-1914
Lennox Waldron Williams.........coo January 25, 1915-1935
Philip Carrington.............. oo sl Jaly 28, 1985
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BISHOP PHILIP CARRINGTON—1835

ARCHEBISHOP AND METROPOLITAN OF ECCLESIASTICAL
PROVINCE OF CAMNADA, 1944

Bishopthorpe, Quebec.
Rev. H. 1. Apps, April 1921
St. Peter's Church, Malbay.

Dear Mr. Apps,

I have read the manuscript of your history of the Malbay
Mission and I believe it will prove a most valuable publication.
I have much pleasure in commending it to the interest of our
church people.

I regret deeply that I shall not be able to be with vou for
your Anniversary celebrations on St. Peter’'s Day, but 1 send
my best wishes and trust they will be happy and successful.

God bless you all.

Yours faithfully,

PHILIP, QUEBEC.
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Incumbent’s Flessane

It is an honour and privilege to be able to share in the festivities
connected with the Centenary of St. Peter’s Church, Malbay.

The honour is in being associated with St. Peter’s as its parish
priest at the completion of its first hundred vears as an individual
congregation. Before 1851 it had been a tiny out-post served by
Missionaries in charge of other parishes as well. The history which has
been written, tells emphatically of the splendid local efforts which
helped this parish grow and expand until it became what it is today,
embracing no less than four congregations each with its own Church
building in which to worship. It is to honour the work of past genera-
tions of clergy and laity that our festivities are made. We give grateful
thanks to God that ours is the privilege to take part in this commem-
oration, and that He has seen fit to bless the labours of those who have
helped in the growth of this parish.

However, while taking part in the local celebrations, and in reading
about the growth of St. Peter's, we must bear in mind with gratitude,
and greater breadth of vision the efforts and help received from beyond
the bounds of this parish which made it possible for the Church’s
buildings and its clergy’'s ministrations to be built and maintained
throughout the years.

We think at this time of the Society for the Propagation of the
Gospel known as the S.P.G., and the Society for the Promotion of
Christian Knowledge known as the S.P.C.K. The grants and help from
these two societies made it possible for us to have our first clergy and
to build our first Churches. Later we think of the Church Society of
the Diocese of Quebec which since 1857 took over these responsibilities,
and have fostered them ever since. We are still a Missionary parish.
Had it not been for these societies’ help, the efforts of our people here
recorded would have been much less effective, noble though they were.
The beauty of our Church buildings would have been much less, and
the ministrations of our clergy perforce much fewer. It is at a time
like this we rejoice to give voice to our thanks.

We have had the inestimable privilege and blessing of a succession
of Bishops deeply interested in our spiritual welfare. Because of this
we have never lacked for young clergy capable of giving vigorous
service to the parish of St. Peter's. We are not unmindful of this
blessing at this time of festivity. We give grateful thanks for their
labours in our midst. Our hope and prayer is that our second century
as a parish may enjoy the same privileges, and that God’s blessing
may rest upon all our efforts in the furtherance of His Kindgom here
upon earth.

May the festivities in which we share be the beginnings of a yet
more glorious story in the annals of this parish. May St. Peter’s
always remember those who have been its generous benefactors in the
past, both spiritually and materially.

Hugh I. Apps
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IN MEMORIAM - REV,.HUGH APPS

With characteristic modesty the Rev. Hugh Apps,

in writing of

St.Peter's,Mal Bay, included little of his own role in the life

of the
career

parish. It is fitting therefore to recall his life and
in the words of his Obituary which was published in the

Québec Diocesan Gazette of November, 1964. GASPE OF YESTERDAY

wishes

to thank the staff of Church House,

the following record available.

Québec City, for making

November, 1964

At his nome 1n Oichmond on

september 2ist, 1964, tacre died
wne aev., Hugh imrie Apos, B.A,
sector and rural cean o/ Riek-

inond, vice-chairman of the Dio-
cosan councik for Social  Ser-
vVIee,

Nuled for his witty ‘ongue, at-
teniien o details, snd care of
proparation, Juck Apps. as ne
was  affectionately  aauwn by
friends and cenfreres, was a wise

Jarish priest, devoted nusband
and {ither, and an active mem-
o diczosan angd other con

mittecs. He was keenly interestea
1 ecommunity affairs and otner
causcs and projects — in par-
ticular, the Leeds Rectorv Res-
turation fund, as well as the
vversight and study, as rurai
dean, of the parish properties
aild cemeteries within the circle
of his deanery.

It is significant that hnis last
public engagement, just minutes
before he died, was to address
the iocal Chamber of Commerce
—where his friends and ac-
quaintances said that they had
never heard him speak with
sreater rorce or effect. Signifi-
cani of the esteem in which he
was held by his Roman Catholic
confreres was shown on the day
of the funeral when a Requiem
High Mass was said for him by
the curé of Ste-Famille Church
in Richmond.

Born fifty years ago in Quebec
City, Jack received his schooling
at East Angus High, and special
musical courses from McGill Coi-
lege of Music and Dominion Col-
lege of Music. After graduation
from High School he worked in
various departments of the
Brompton paper mill at East An-
3us. Like several of his college
friends at the time, Jack received
his caii to the priesthood whils

T -
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HUGH IMRIE APPS

aus's Lniversity for aJis B.A. n
Tacoiugy. Afler cramnaton in
2742, ne servea on the Inverness
and Lecds missicns. where ne is

suil rememoered with aifection
— and over wnicn re preside:d
il cerialn matters of provertics

i Nis capacity as rural cean. His
uoxi tield of work was a. the old
mussicn  parishes of Frampion,
Hdemison, Cumberland Miiis, and
compan:on 9places, 1 the St
Grorges-de-Beauce arca. He alss
spent a year as priast-in-charge

of St Clement's Mission, Suehue
[.abrador, where he ~ became
~nown for nis outspoken and

carefully prepared reports on oc-
vcational and social service mat-
lers.

ir 1943, in the Church of Si.
Jonn the Evangelist, Montreal,
he was marriea to Anna Cheban,
— at present Frencn specialist
at St. Francis High School, Rich-
mond. Twin children, Dean and
Audrey, were born in 1950, while
ine Apps were at Malbay on the
Gaspe. Remaining there for a
dozen Yyears, continuing to serve
faithfuiiy and well one of the
most extensive missions in the
diocese, Jack took a keen inter-
esi in many projeects, inciuding
the Deanery Boys’' Camps at For:
Haldimand, and in the Gaspesian
Rural Electrification, on the
board of which he was a pioneer
director.

In 1957 he was appointed rec-
tor of St. Anne's, Richmond,
where he has continued his usual
parish  activities and added
others, including a keen interest
.0 the life and work of the Walas
Home. As well as serving on the
D.C5S., Jack was a memboer in
recent years of the Diocesan
Board of Missions, and special
diocesan committees, acting re-
cently as registrar of the Digce-

n the day of :ne funera!, Sep-

ember 24th, A Requiem Euchar-
st was neid in St Anne’s Churen
in Richmaonida, where tne hody was
¥ing la the choir before the al-
il attended oy nis family, cler
cal confreres and uthers, — the
celebrant neing nis former rector
at East Angus, the Rev. Canon
C. E. 5. Bown, now of Windsor,
Quebec.
At the Buriai Office in the al-
rioon. inany ciericai friends
i acguain.ances attencded and
susisiedl (1 the -rocessionz’ a.d
:a the choir: the aciing marshal
was the Rev. I.. G. Westman, rec-
cor of Danviie, assistea by tne
Rev. Don CZustace, deacun-in-
charge of East Angus. Assisting
the Lord B:ishop in the Office
.iself, were ine Dean of Quebec,
the Very Rev. A. E. Coleman,
Archdeacon Marston, Archdeacon
Matthews, tae Rev. C. S. Breti-
Perring, a close friend, now of
Galt, Orntario, and Canon Meade,
domestic chaplain. The commii-
:al was made in St. Anne's Ceme-
tery, Richmonad.

It was a mark of Father Apps’
lite that he did not spare nim-
self in whatever he set out to do.
This remained true of him even
arter he had repeated warnings
that he was f{ar from well i
health. Thus was the compulsion
of his devotion.

His many friends and parish-
foners join with us in prayers
that his wiic and children may
ieel and know the peace and con-
solation of God in these days of
bereavement. And for all of us.
may the good humour. and the
devotion to duty and breadth of
understanding that were his, live
on in our hearts as a witness and
an inspiration.

“Lignt perpetual shine upon
him, O Lord; work in him the
onod nurnnse o Thy nerfect will
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